




 

1 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

 
 
 
 

 
       
   
 

MINUTES 
 

The Indian Trail Town Council held a Regular Meeting on Tuesday, October 25, 2016, 6:30 PM in the Council’s 
Chambers at the Civic Building, 100 Navajo Trail, Indian Trail, NC. 
 
The following members of Town Council were present: 
Mayor Michael Alvarez     Council Member Gary Savoie   
Council Member Gordon Daniels   Mayor Pro Tem David Cohn 
Council Member Amy R. Stanton  
 
Members Participating Remotely: Council Member Mark Wireman was present via Skype from London at the 
start of the meeting; the point at which he was able to begin participating in the meeting is noted in the body of 
these minutes (Agenda Item #3). 
 
Members Absent:  none 
 
The following members of staff were present: 
Town Manager Scott Kaufhold, Interim Town Attorney Chris Duggan, Town Clerk Kelley Southward, Director 
of Planning and Neighborhood Services Rox Burhans,  Director of Finance Jim Wojtowicz, Director of 
Engineering and Public Works Patrick Sadek, Executive Assistant to Town Manager/Special Projects Coordinator 
Vicky Watts, Senior Planner Gretchen Coperine, Senior Planner Meade Bradshaw, Communications/Community 
Engagement Coordinator Mike Parks and Engineering Project Manager Adam McLamb.   
 
Guests:  there were approximately 65 guests in the audience. 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Mayor Alvarez called the meeting to 

order at 6:30 PM and Captain Coble led everyone in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

2. MOMENT OF SILENCE:  After the Pledge everyone remained standing for a moment of silence. 
 

3. ACTION ITEM:  Council Consideration to Approve a Remote Participation Policy by Adopting 
Resolution #R161025-01 (Mayor Alvarez) 
 

    TOWN COUNCIL 
 
     Gordon B. Daniels 
 
       Gary M. Savoie 
 
       Amy R. Stanton 
 
     Mark A. Wireman 

MAYOR 
Michael L Alvarez 

 
MAYOR PRO TEM 

David L. Cohn 
 

TOWN MANAGER 
Scott J. Kaufhold, P.E. 

Indian Trail Town Council  
Regular Meeting  

Tuesday, October 25, 2016 
Civic Building—6:30 PM 



 

2 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

Mayor Alvarez said he added this item to the agenda because it has been discussed many times in the past and 
is in use by other municipalities and other public bodies throughout the state.  After extensive research the 
UNC School of Government recommends that local governments adopt a policy allowing remote 
participation before partaking in such.  Councilman Daniels asked how far away someone could be.  Mayor 
Alvarez noted that Councilman Wireman is in London on business and would like to participate this evening; 
he could be seen and heard via Skype on the SmartBoard. 
 
Councilman Savoie moved to adopt the remote participation policy by way of approving Resolution 
#R161025-01 and discussion ensued. 
 
Councilman Cohn said that he is in favor of this policy but doesn't want to see it abused.  He would like to 
limit the use to twice per year, per member.  Additionally, he felt that it should only be utilized when there is 
a very important matter on the agenda that all Council needs to be present for.  Mayor Alvarez agreed that use 
should be limited but felt that it should not go beyond 50% of scheduled meetings.  Mayor Alvarez said he is 
not in favor of allowing the Mayor (or whomever is chairing the meeting) to participate remotely.  Ms. 
Southward noted that such language is included in the policy; the Chair cannot run the meeting remotely--
they could listen in remotely though.   
 
Councilwoman Stanton agreed with Councilman Cohn in that any single member could only remote in twice 
per year.  Further, she wanted to adjust the policy to mandate that both audio and visual were required in 
order to vote on items (as presented the policy would allow for simple audio remote-in too).  Councilwoman 
Stanton asked how it would be addressed if two Council Members wanted to participate remotely; she would 
like to limit it to one per meeting.  Councilman Savoie felt a situation may arise where two members may 
truly need to participate remotely at the same meeting and didn't see the harm in such.  He felt if the policy 
began to be abused then Council could amend the policy at a later date.  Councilwoman Stanton felt it was 
important to shore-up the policy before there is an opportunity to abuse.  Mayor Alvarez suggested that if two 
members wanted to remote-in for a meeting that the first to ask be permitted to participate and the second 
only be permitted to watch/listen in remotely without participating.  Councilman Daniels agreed with 
Councilman Savoie in that Council Members are all adults and if two members want to use one of their two 
times per year on the same night then they should be able to do so.  Mayor Alvarez felt that his point was 
valid. 
 
Councilman Cohn said just because a member cannot attend a meeting does not mean that they have to 
participate in the meeting remotely.  He said he had to miss the last meeting but there were not any vital items 
on the agenda.  He also asked if the screen could be split to allow two members to participate by Skype at the 
same time; staff noted that such should be possible.   
 
Mayor Alvarez summarized the points he heard from Council to add to the proposed policy:  1-each Council 
Member can only remote in a maximum of 2 times per year; 2-two Council Members can remote in and 
participate to the same meeting (which is already permitted by the policy) but both must be visually and 
audibly represented and 3-the Mayor cannot run meetings remotely (already in the policy). 
 
It was noted that Councilman Savoie had provided a motion to approve the policy as presented in the packets 
and Councilman Savoie was not interested in amending his motion.  To that end, Mayor Alvarez called for a 
vote and the vote resulted in a tie with Councilmen Savoie and Daniels voting in the affirmative and Council 
Members Stanton and Cohn voting in the opposition.  Mayor Alvarez broke the tie by voting in the opposition; 
the motion failed. 
 
Councilman Cohn then moved to amend the proposed Remote Participation Policy to include a limit that each 
Council Member can only attend remotely a maximum of two times per calendar year (January to December) 
and that if two members are participating remotely at the same time then both need to Skype in (i.e. both need 



 

3 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

to be seen and heard).  The motion carried by a vote of three (3) to one (1) with Councilman Savoie voting in 
the opposition. 
 
It was noted at 6:43 PM that Councilman Mark Wireman was now able to participate in the meeting as he was 
able to be seen on the SmartBoard by all and heard by all via Skype from London, England.   Councilman 
Wireman thanked Council for approving the Remote Participation Policy. 
 

4. AGENDA ADDITIONS & DELETIONS      Action 
• Councilman Daniels requested to add to Discussion Item:  13b-Request that the Miracle League 

Make a Quarterly Report to Council on the Progress for Funding and Bringing the Project to Reality; 
the motion carried by a vote of four (4) to one (1) with Councilman Cohn opposing.  

• Councilman Daniels requested to move Consent Agenda 9b Budget Amendment #628 to New 
Business 12c; it was moved. 

• Councilman Cohn moved to add to New Business 12d The Town to Contribute $250 to the VFW "Blue 
Dinner" (providing a meal to law enforcement officers current or retired and their families) on 
October 28th to show appreciation for their service; the motion carried unanimously. 

• Councilman Wireman moved to remove Discussion Item 13a from the agenda; the motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
5. MOTION TO APPROVE AGENDA      Action 

Councilman Savoie moved to approve the agenda, as amended and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
6. PRESENTATIONS: none 
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENTS   

• Ms. Cathi Higgins of 3004 Clover Hill Road addressed Council first regarding the State's decision to 
take away municipal authority to regulate design standards.  She was on the Planning Board the first 
time that the State tried to take away this authority and even penned the letter that the Planning Board 
sent to the State urging them not to change the law.  However, the State has taken design standard 
regulations away from municipal authority.  She is concerned that the developer (of 
Hawfield/Heritage) is negotiating for higher density by threatening to build a lesser quality 
neighborhood.  On one hand she thinks that well, this is what the State has done.  However, Ms. 
Higgins said that she has been involved in planning and zoning from a citizen level for 25 years and 
that mindset is not good for the Town.  Ms. Higgins said that she doesn't know what the answer is but 
she does not like it.  She urged Council to make sure that the information they have received is 
accurate.  Ms. Higgins said that she has had a problem with the Hawfield/Heritage Project since the 
beginning.  She believes the information received from the developer to be evasive and deceptive.  
She said that she would be happy to explain two instances but Council would have to ask her as it 
would go beyond what is left of her 3 minutes.  She also suggested that Council consider the 
stakeholders (people directly affected by the project).  Ms. Higgins said that she is not directly 
affected by the project but some of her neighbors would be as their properties are adjacent to the 
project and they have concerns.  However, Ms. Higgins said that she is a stakeholder as a resident of 
Indian Trail and is concerned that this project could have 200 more homes because of the State's 
decision to take design standard regulations away from local governments.  An additional 200 more 
homes is more cars on the road and more children in our schools.   

 
8. LAW ENFORCEMENT UPDATE 

Captain Coble said that his department is working on several things with the Town otherwise things are 
business as usual.  Mayor Alvarez thanked the Sheriff's Department for their assistance with the Trunk or 



 

4 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

Treat/Candy Crawl last Friday; it has been estimated that 7,000 people attended.  Councilman Daniels 
thanked Captain Coble for the UCSO Crime Prevention luncheon today.   

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA        Action 

a) Approve Draft Minutes October 11, 2016 Regular Town Council Meeting 
b) Approve Budget Amendment #628 (this item was moved to New Business during Agenda 

Additions/Deletions) 
c) Approve Crismark Street Acceptance  
d) Approve written copy of the Public Safety Committee amended By-Laws (reducing membership 

amount to 7 as approved by Council 10-11-16) 
e) Approve Union County Sheriff's Office Agreement Amendment #3 (adding Lieutenant position)  

 
Councilman Savoie moved to approve the Consent Agenda as amended during Additions/Deletions; 
the motion carried unanimously.   
 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS        Action 
a) The Hawfield/Heritage Annexation and Conditional Zoning: 

 
Staff Presentation: 
Gretchen Coperine, Senior Planner, addressed Council noting that her presentation this evening 
would be brief and address both the annexation and conditional zoning applications.  Then, the 
applicant (who is the same for both matters) has a presentation as well.  As for the annexation, that 
request is to bring two parcels totaling about 8.26 acres into the municipal limits by voluntary 
annexation of the property owners.  The 8.26 acres is part of the conditional zoning request of 
approximately 163 acres.  The 8.26 acres currently located in unincorporated Union County are zoned 
R-40 by Union County.  The remaining acreage (three parcels) that are located in Indian Trail are 
zoned R-SF (a rural single family designation) and SF-4 (a single family designation).  The total 163 
acres are located off of Wesley Chapel Road on Hawfield Road.  According to State Statutes any 
property annexed by a municipality must be assigned a municipal zoning designation; that is why the 
zoning and annexation applications are made concurrently.   
 
A portion of the proposed project (subdivision) would be age-restricted according to the Housing for 
Older Persons Act (HOPA).  The project is would be located in the municipal limits of Wesley 
Chapel and Indian Trail with the greater number of homes located in Indian Trail.  In total the project 
proposes 435 lots:  119 units/lots in Wesley Chapel and 316 units/lots in Indian Trail.  Of the 
proposed 316 units in Indian Trail the project proposes to age-restrict 214 units in accordance with 
HOPA.   
 
The public process has been extensive for this proposed project.  The 2 UDO required community 
meetings were both held in June.  Then there were between 5 and 10 additional community meetings 
held that were not required by the UDO.  Finally, on October 17th another community meeting was 
held at the behest of Town Council after a recommendation made at the September Planning Board 
Meeting.  This matter was heard before the Planning Board on August 16th and September 20, 2016.  
Community concerns include traffic, connectivity through Downing Court, school impacts and 
buffering.  The resolution for traffic is that the Traffic Improvements Analysis includes improvements 
to reduce traffic and a condition of approval is that such improvements must be made before the first 
Certificate of Occupancy will be issued.  The resolve for the connectivity to Downing Court is to not 
require the connection by a condition of approval that Downing Court is to be a cul de sac on the 
subject property at the expense of the developer.  The McKibben Report regarding impact to schools 
shows a reduced impact on schools.  The resolution for the buffering concern is that in order to reduce 
visibility to the subject property from adjacent properties that the developer will be required to add 



 

5 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

supplemental plantings and increase the periphery buffer to 25 feet and is actually exceeded to nearly 
40-feet in certain locations.  
 
Ms. Coperine noted that staff is very sensitive to the concerns of residents on Downing Court who do 
not want vehicular connectivity; the cul de sac has been recommended.  However, staff feels that 
some sort of connectivity is important; pedestrian connectivity at a minimum.  Currently the modified 
plan and conditions of approval do not include any kind of connectivity from the subject 
neighborhood to the adjacent subdivision.  Ms. Coperine just wanted to state for the record on behalf 
of Planning and Engineering staff that they believe some form of connectivity is a good planning 
practice but certainly respect the concerns from adjacent property owners and the action of Council.   
 
Councilman Cohn asked if the conditional zoning request is denied and the by-right plan was 
developed would the Town still have the authority to stop the connectivity to Downing Court by 
approving a cul de sac for the by-right plan.  Ms. Coperine noted that the UDO requires connectivity.  
So, staff would have to ensure that the developer was meeting the requirements of the UDO for the 
by-right plan (i.e. mandate that the connection be made from the subject property to Downing Court).  
Councilman Cohn wanted it to be noted for the record that the connectivity could be stopped under 
either plan.  He doesn't want people to think that if this plan is not approved it would be the only way 
to get the cul de sac on Downing Court.  It was noted that a UDO text amendment could be made to 
change the connectivity requirement.  However, it was also noted that until any text amendment was 
officially approved (going through the UDO text amendment process which can take several months) 
any development application received prior to an official amendment falls subject to the version of 
the UDO that was in full force and effect the time that the application was submitted.  Councilman 
Daniels opined that Council should focus on amending the UDO.  He would like Council to have the 
same flexibility with the by-right plan as they would have with conditional zoning.  He wants Council 
to be able to vote on the by-right plan too.  Ms. Coperine noted that as recommended by the Planning 
Board, the request before Council this evening does not provide for connectivity but rather includes a 
cul de sac for Downing Court.  Councilwoman Stanton asked what the proposed plan looks like on 
the other side of Downing Court.   Ms. Coperine noted that it abuts vacant land.       
 
Ms. Coperine continued noting that the School Impact Study shows a reduced impact on schools 
based upon the number of age-restricted lots.  The buffering was increased to 25-feet in some areas 
based upon visibility impacts to current developed, neighboring properties.  The condition of a 25-
foot buffer in specific areas requires that the buffer stay as natural as possible and where such is not 
possible (due to construction activity) supplemental plantings must be installed to achieve an 
acceptable capacity level.  Councilwoman Stanton asked what types of plantings will be required.  
Ms. Coperine noted that Leland Cyprus and Evergreens, which grow dense and tall, are typical.  
Additionally, some understory plantings would be required.  Upon query Ms. Coperine said no certain 
tree height was required at the installation of vegetation rather just a capacity level must be reached.  
Councilwoman Stanton asked if they took down 18-foot trees for construction then the developer 
could potentially replace with a six-foot tree.  Typically, Ms. Coperine said that something tall, like 
an evergreen, as well as something shorter, like Leland Cypress, in order to create a staggered effect, 
is required.  Upon query from Councilman Daniels, Ms. Coperine noted that the 25-foot buffer is the 
minimum for the entire project.  However, there are some areas where the buffer exceeds 25-feet.  
The area adjacent to Downing Court for instance has a buffer that is increased to almost 40 feet.       
 
On September 20th the Planning Board voted to recommend approval of the project (annexation and 
conditional zoning) with modifications.  The Downing Court cul de sac modification was one 
recommendation and the conceptual plan has been updated to reflect the recommendation.  A traffic 
calming study was also recommended and such is on-going and included as a condition of approval.  
The buffering issue has been updated as a condition of approval to provide buffering with specific 



 

6 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

plant species.  Finally, the Planning Board had recommended an additional community meeting 
which took place on October 17th.  On September 20th the Planning Board voted to approve the 
application for the conditional zoning with the aforementioned modifications; the Planning Board 
vote was unanimous. 
 
Councilman Daniels asked if the conditions of approval include language to the effect that if 
trees/vegetation within the buffer die with-in a certain period of time that the developer would be 
required to replant.  Ms. Coperine relayed that such language has not been included but if Council 
wanted to add such language to the conditions of approval that could be done.  The developer said 
that no Leland Cypress would be planted as they are sensitive.  Councilman Daniels suggested that if 
any plantings die within 5 years that the developer be required to replant. 
 
Ms. Coperine read the following consistency findings with the Comprehensive Plan from the 
Planning Board into the record:  1) Land Use and Housing Goals #1, 2 & 5:  The proposed project 
promotes compatibility of land uses between neighboring properties and surrounding municipalities, 
provides a range of housing options, and proposes high quality design to promote attractive land 
development; the proposed project also provides buffering between adjacent uses and preserves 
naturally sensitive areas within the floodplain; and 2) Mobility and Transportation Goal #3:  The 
proposed development incorporates pedestrian amenities by way of 0.66 miles of Carolina Thread 
Trail and 0.81 miles of walking trail, and provides vehicular and pedestrian connectivity both within 
the community and for area residents.  The request for this conditional zoning district (CZ-SF-4) is a 
reasonable request and is in the public interest because it supports the goals of the adopted 
Comprehensive Plan and includes elements that benefit the general public in the areas of 
transportation, land use and housing. 
 
Ms. Coperine noted that the development is split between the Sun Valley and the Moore Farm 
villages and the land use is medium density.  The overall density is 1.9 units per acre which is 
consistent with medium density which allows 2-4 units per acre.   
 
To that end, staff requests that Council receive this information and public comments; then, make a 
motion regarding the annexation (approve or disapprove); then, if the annexation is approved, make a 
motion to approve/deny the consistency findings as read into the record; and finally reach a final 
decision for the conditional zoning (CZ-SF-4) request by either approving as presented (with 
Planning Board modifications), approve with modifications, deny the request or request more 
information.  If the annexation is not approved, no further action would be relevant.   
 
Developer Presentation: 
Brian Jenest of Cole, Jenest & Stone of Charlotte addressed Council noting that he is a landscape 
architect and land planner; Colter, the development team is also present this evening and may add to 
his presentation.  Mr. Jenest said that between the Village of Wesley Chapel and the Town of Indian 
Trail there has been no less than 20 meetings held related to this project.  The project is a combination 
of age-restricted and traditional lots; he showed the location of both on a site plan map.  There is a 
total of 276 acres for the project which span both municipalities.  The overall project density is 1.79 
units per acre.  He relayed that Taylor Glenn has a density of 2.4; Brandon Oaks 2.35; and Sheridan 
2.5.   
 
Mr. Jenest said that the open space required in Indian Trail is only 9 acres and the proposed open 
space for this development is 61 acres.  In Wesley Chapel the required open space is three acres and 
the development would have 65 in their jurisdiction.  The proposed total open space is 126 acres; 
45% of the total property.  He also noted that 99 acres (roughly 36% of the total site) of existing trees 
will be saved; Indian Trail's requirement would be 24 acres according to Mr. Jenest.  He pointed out 



 

7 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

the Carolina Thread Trail that runs through the community.  In total there are about 1.5 miles of trails 
provided throughout the development.  Mr. Jenest pointed out the buffers along adjacent Indian Trail 
neighborhoods noting that they range from 20-feet to almost 50-feet.  He noted that seem buffers 
appear larger because other neighborhoods have existing buffers, like Taylor Glenn for instance.   
 
Mr. Jenest noted in the updated plan that includes the Planning Board's recommendation, the cul de 
sac at Downing Court will actually be constructed and contained on the subject property because 
there is no additional space on the Taylor Glenn property.  He noted that there will be buffer around 
the cul de sac.  Currently Downing Court stubs out at the Taylor Glenn property so the Heritage 
developer has agreed to provide the cul de sac on their own property.   
 
Mr. Jenest said that the state has taken away a lot of the design requirements.  However, with this 
zoning request some design standards have been volunteered by the developer.  There will be no vinyl 
siding; all exteriors will be hardy plank, stone or brick.  There will be porches but not on every unit as 
to provide for variety.  Most of the age-restricted units will be single story and the traditional lots will 
have two story homes.  They will also provide for special lighting.  These volunteered design 
standards can be enforced because they were volunteered.  The amenities will be located in the Indian 
Trail portion of the development.  There will be a clubhouse with social director, workout facility, 
pool, pickle-ball, bocce ball and an event lawn.   
 
Mr. Jenest showed a chart that compares the requested conditional zoning to the by-right plan.  In 
short lot sizes would be reduced significantly in the conditional zoning plan which of course means 
that the number of units increases from 188 in the by-right plan to 316 in the proposed conditional 
zoning plan.  Required open space is 5.7 acres in the by-right plan and required 9.5 acres of open 
space in the conditional plan (of course Mr. Jenest noted about that they are proposing 61 acres of 
open space in Indian Trail).  The Carolina Thread Trail would be encouraged but not required in the 
by-right plan and no amenities would be required.  Mr. Jenest said that no buffering is required in the 
by-right plan whereas a 25-foot buffer would be provided in the proposed plan.  Connectivity would 
be required in the by-right to stub streets the conditional zoning allows Council to alter that UDO 
requirement and have a cul de sac at Downing Court.  The by-right plan has no architectural standards 
but the conditional zoning plan includes the volunteered design standards aforementioned.  The by-
right plan would have no age-restricted units and the 68% (214 units) of the conditional plan would 
be age-restricted.  
 
Councilwoman Stanton asked if the buffer along the area directly adjacent to Canopy Drive could be 
increased to 30 feet.  Mr. Jenest said that the buffer on the Heritage property could not be increased 
an additional 5-feet.  However, they had talked with some of the property owners on Canopy Drive 
and what the developer is willing to do in order to create the same effect is to add plantings to their 
properties on Canopy Drive.  Councilwoman Stanton said that their developer had told them one 
thing and unfortunately they are not getting what they were told.  She would like to see a 30-foot 
buffer in that area added to the conditions of approval.  Councilman Daniels asked Ms. Coperine to 
show any areas that exceed the 25-foot buffer; she did and Canopy Drive did not appear to exceed the 
25 foot buffer.  Mr. Jenest said that the buffers would be a mix of Holly, Magnolias and Evergreens 
things that take well and have long lives in this region.  Additionally, some areas have the ability to 
have a berm with plantings.  As mentioned before, some areas will simply require supplemental 
vegetation to enhance existing vegetation while other areas will need to be fully vegetated.      
 
Councilman Cohn asked the traffic study consultant how there is proposed to be 200 more homes in 
this area and less traffic is to be generated.  The traffic consultant said that traffic engineers have 
gathered real world data for different land uses to provide a manual used to assist with traffic impact 
analysis.  For the traffic analysis of this property the numbers for age-restricted communities were 



 

8 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

applied from the manual to determine trip generation.  The traffic consultant is hired by the developer 
and the study has to be approved by the Town and NC DOT; the traffic analysis for this project has 
been approved by both those entities as well as the Village of Wesley Chapel.   
 
Councilman Wireman asked about the buffer; it was confirmed that the buffer is from the project's 
perifery property line to the individual lots' property lines.  So, when you look from house to house 
(one from a back yard in the subject property to the rear of a house in a neighboring property) what is 
the distance.  Mr. Jenest said that with individual rear setbacks and the buffer the distance house to 
house could be 85 to 90 feet dependant on the buffers and setbacks.  Councilman Wireman asked how 
high the berm would be.  Mr. Jenest said they have proposed a 6-foot berm with plantings on top. 
 

1) Annexation Ordinance #143 Hawfield/Heritage:  a voluntary annexation request to 
annex two (2) parcels of land into the corporate limits of Indian Trail; Tax Parcel ID 
numbers 07120005 90 and 07120008, located on Hawfield Road and totaling 
approximately 8.26 acres.  Applicant:  Queen City Land LLC  
 
Mayor Alvarez opened the public hearing for public comments related to Annexation 
Ordinance #143.  As no speakers had signed up, Mayor Alvarez closed the public comments.  
However, two gentleman requested to make comment so Mayor Alvarez reopened the public 
hearing, public comments for Annexation Ordinance #143. 
 

o Mr. Dixon Yard of 1009 Brandon Court addressed Council noting he has lived here for 20 
years.  He can remember when Taylor Glenn was undeveloped land.  Development of Taylor 
Glenn has prevented the use of ingress/egress of Tanglewood in his community.  He said that 
Hawfield Road is only about 75 feet from the only ingress/egress from his community.  Mr. 
Yard said that Wesley Chapel Road is a country road and Hawfield is located at the top of a 
rolling hill.  Further, Sun Valley High School heading toward Wesley Chapel you have the 
sun directly in your eyes in the afternoon.  He said that a number of accidents have occurred 
in the vicinity of Hawfield Road.  He is concerned that no one has mentioned this elevation 
and the traffic dangers in the area.  Hawfield Road has historically been an access for one 
home and Mr. Yard is very concerned about it becoming a main access to such a large 
community.  Mr. Yard takes issue with the traffic study that has been conducted. 
 

o Mike Como, Council Member for the Village of Wesley Chapel, addressed Council.  He feels 
it is important for the two municipalities to work together on this project since it is proposed 
to be located in both jurisdictions.  He relayed that Wesley Chapel has contacted NC DOT 
about reducing the speed limit on Wesley Chapel Road from 45 MPH to 35 MPH.  He hopes 
that Indian Trail would be supportive of a speed reduction as well.   

 
Mayor Alvarez closed the public comments portion for Annexation Ordinance #143. 

 
2) CZ2016-005 Hawfield/Heritage:  this is a rezoning request to establish a Conditional 

Zoning Single Family (CZ SF-4) district for 316 single family detached units on parcels 
0720005 90, 07120008, 07120003, 07120005A and 0712300IJ, totaling approximately 163 
acres.  the parcels are located on the north side of Wesley Chapel Road.  Applicant:  
Queen City Land, LLC 
 
Mayor Alvarez opened the public hearing, public comments for CZ2016-005 Hawfield 
Heritage--rezoning request for Conditional Zoning Single Family (CZ-SF-4) district. 
 



 

9 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

• Mr. Larry Dukes of 5001 Magna Lane addressed Council noting his property is located on the 
corner of Downing Court.  He had his neighbors present (approximately 25) raise their hands.  
During all of the meetings related to this matter they have been told that there are two options 
for the development of the subject property:  option #1 the requested conditional zoning and 
option #2 the by-right plan.  He believes that since option #1 includes the age-restricted lots 
that there will be two HOAs to manage the community.  The advantage to option #1 is that 
Council will have more control over the design of the development as we've heard this 
evening.  Mr. Dukes requested that Downing Court be made into a permanent cul de sac.  To 
that end of the two options (they have been told that there are only these two options) the 
conditional zoning is favored by him and his neighbors because it does provide for the cul de 
sac to be constructed at the cost of the developer on the developer's land (as recommended by 
the Planning Board and presented this evening).  He said that the families on Downing Court 
are very close and acts like a cul de sac today.   
 

• Mr. Richard Herman of 1002 Downing Court addressed Council about the connectivity of his 
road to the proposed neighborhood.  Mr. Herman is also in favor of cul de sac for Downing 
Court.  Downing Court is a very quiet street and believes that connecting his street to another 
neighborhood will be detrimental to his street and neighborhood as a whole.  He requested 
Council to keep such in mind when rendering their decision on this matter.  In addition to 
approving a cul de sac for Downing Court he asked that other adjacent property owners are 
kept in mind and that buffers are maximized.  If what has been relayed regarding the two 
options is correct then he is in favor of the proposed conditional rezoning with the 
recommendations from the Planning Board as such provides for the cul de sac and increased 
buffers.  He thanked Council for their time in careful consideration of this matter. 
 

• Mrs. Emily Herman of 1002 Downing Court addressed Council noting that when house 
hunting their main goal was to find a home located on a safe and quiet street preferably a cul 
de sac.  Downing Court has been a great street to live on.  They are able to play outside with 
their children and neighbors.  Currently there are 13 homes on Downing Court with 15 
children.  If Downing Court were to connect with the Heritage development then this safe 
haven would become a dangerous main thoroughfare.  They have signed a petition requesting 
that Downing Court not be connected.  Mrs. Herman noted that she is a Registered Nurse and 
has worked in many emergency rooms.  She has seen firsthand the devastation of both 
children and adults having been hit by cars.  Not only would connecting Downing Court be 
used by these two communities but others would use the street as a cut-through to Brandon 
Oaks and Waxhaw-Indian Trail Road.  At this point it seems the only way to ensure that 
Downing Court becomes a cul de sac is to approve the conditional zoning request.  She also 
urged Council to review the UDO and consider amending the connectivity requirement that 
would mandate the road connection if the by-right plan were developed.  The disbursement of 
traffic through neighborhoods is unsafe for children and residents of Indian Trail.  In 
summary she requested Council vote in favor of the conditional zoning plan so that the cul de 
sac can come fruition and buffers will be provided.  Mrs. Herman thanked Council for their 
time and consideration. 
 

• Mr. Walter Hoehn of 1009 Downing Court said that the residents of Downing Court learned 
about the Heritage project back in May and it has been a tough journey for them.  They have 
learned something new about the development at each meeting attended; he is not sure that 
they have learned everything about it even yet.  As discussed by the last few speakers safety 
is a major concern for Downing Court; they do not want the road to connect to Heritage.  
There is no doubt that connecting the two developments will be detrimental to public safety.  



 

10 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

He feels as though everyone is stuck between a rock and hard place.  Option #1 (proposed 
conditional zoning) means more homes but enhanced buffers.  For Downing Court, option #1 
seems to be the only way to save their street.  He believes that the developer has done a good 
job in working with adjacent property owners to address their concerns.  He urged Council to 
ask all pertinent questions before making a final decision on this important matter.    
    

• Mrs. Pat Mower of 2022 Canopy Drive addressed Council noting that over the past several 
months she has spoke in opposition to approving this conditional zoning request for multiple 
reasons.  Her objective was to prevent additional development until our infrastructure was 
upgraded.  However, in recent weeks the public has learned that there are plans to develop the 
subject property now with or without the conditional rezoning.  As Mrs. Mower understands 
it, there is not an option to prevent the development of this property.  So, the question is what 
version do we want.  Obviously each will bring more traffic to our overcrowded roads and 
more students to our overcrowded schools; to what degree is arguable.  Which option will 
provide the least amount of (negative) impact to adjacent property owners.  After long and 
careful consideration Mrs. Mower said that she has come to the conclusion that the 
conditional rezoning plan is the better of the two options.  It will allow Council to establish 
modifications that will have less of an impact to adjacent property owners.  She urged 
Council to approve the conditional zoning request with the modifications, especially the 
buffering, recommended by the Planning Board.  She asked that a minimum 25 foot buffer of 
existing trees (not a berm) be required around the development and that supplemental 
plantings be added to provide a year-round screening between communities.  Additionally, 
she requested Council add a condition of approval that lots in Heritage abutting Canopy 
Drive not be clear-cut to the property but would maintain a portion of existing trees at the 
back of the lots adjoining the buffer.  And, if legally possible, a "no clear-cut" clause be 
included in their covenants and restrictions.   
 

• Mrs. Mary Milano who lives on Fountainbrook Drive in Brandon Oaks addressed Council 
stating that the traffic in Brandon Oaks is terrible.  She opined that part of the traffic problem 
is because a lot of Taylor Glenn residents cut through Brandon Oaks.  She asked if the 
proposed development would have access to Brandon Oaks' streets and if so, it will be a 
highway.  She said that speed bumps have not worked on Fountainbrook Drive.  She has only 
lived here a year and is very disappointed with the connected neighborhoods and does not 
understand why the neighborhoods have to connect.  Mrs. Milano said that she has to be 
creative in scheduling doctor appointments to not be trying to leave her home before 8am and 
to ensure that she is back home by 4pm or she'll be stuck in traffic.  She opined that 
connecting another neighborhood to Brandon Oaks would be a terrible thing. 
 

• Mr. Rob Davis of 1013 Stoney Ford Lane said that he shares a lot of the same concerns 
already expressed.  He has lived here for 25/30 years and has seen the tremendous growth.  
Traffic is terrible in Brandon Oaks.  He said most of everyone here tonight is looking at the 
better of the two options for developing the subject property.  He agrees with previous 
speakers that the conditional zoning is the better of the two options for all the reasons 
previously stated. 
   

• Kathy Miller of 1106 Alyssum Lane said that she would like Council to vote against the 
conditional rezoning.  The current UDO was set up with a vision for Indian Trail and the 
rezoning request changes that vision.  Sun Valley schools are out-dated with no plans for new 
schools anytime soon.  Our roads are overcrowded.  The widening of Monroe Road won't be 
done until 2022-2024 at best.  She took issue with the traffic study noting issues experienced 



 

11 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

today; how will traffic be lessened with the addition of over 300 homes?  Additionally, Ms. 
Miller said she does not believe that the age group of 55 and older generates less trips per 
day.  She said that she falls in that category and she left her home three different times today.  
She said it is mind-boggling to think that people over 55 just stay home and don't use the 
infrastructure.  A few weeks ago Council voted against the Virginia Trace project; a 92 lot 
subdivision.  She noted that part of Council's reasoning for voting against that project is 
because traffic is already a nightmare.  Ms. Miller said this project will be a traffic nightmare 
for everyone in Sun Valley not just those who abut the property.  Ms. Miller said that Wesley 
Chapel has put a stop on any future age-restricted community rezoning.  Since all of the 
homes in Heritage are not age-restricted, Ms. Miller said it will not be possible to enforce the 
age-restriction on the lots that are supposed to be age-restricted during resale of a home.  
Indian Trail will be left with homes on patio-sized lots which does not conform to 
surrounding neighborhoods or the current UDO.  She urged Council to vote no to this 
rezoning and noted several age-restricted communities in Indian Trail and surrounding 
municipalities that are already developed or approved.  
 

• Mr. Mike Mower of 2022 Canopy Drive addressed Council recognizing the traffic and school 
issues.  Growth will happen.  He said that approving the conditional rezoning request will 
allow Council to have a say in the growth of this particular neighborhood.  Although he has 
been against the rezoning from the beginning in light of recent information he is currently in 
favor of the conditional rezoning request.   
 

• Mayor Alvarez called on Mr. Reymond Moore who elected not to speak noting that his 
concerns have been addressed. 
 

• Mr. Ryan Smith of 301 Braxton Drive addressed Council said he shares many of the opinions 
already expressed.  He said that like many of the communities surrounding Charlotte we are 
growing at a much faster rate than our infrastructure can handle and it is affecting the quality 
of life for our residents.  He noted that in addition to vehicular traffic there is quite a bit of 
pedestrian traffic on Wesley Chapel Road and Monroe Road; many students walk to school.  
He said that he has reviewed and prepared many traffic studies and numbers can be 
manipulated.  It is just common sense to know that 300 plus more homes is going to bring 
more traffic.  He said that individual tax payers are held responsible to pay for infrastructure 
upgrades (through taxes) when developers should have to pay impact fees sufficient to assist 
in these necessary upgrades to our infrastructure.  He said that Union County water and sewer 
rates are expected to double by 2020 (from 2015).  As a tax payer, Mr. Smith said that he is 
tired of being held accountable for infrastructure upgrades that developers should be 
responsible for.  Mr. Smith said that quality of life is important to Indian Trail residents and 
we should continue to protect the established standards. 
 

• Ms. Lauren Law of 2003 Cloverhill Road in the Sheridan neighborhood addressed Council 
stating that her home would be directly affected as her property abuts the proposed subject 
development.  She has two young daughters and was highly opposed to the project when she 
first heard about it.  However, she attended the last meeting and was impressed by how the 
developer took the time to individually review the project and address her concerns.  It seems 
as though the developer is really trying to work with adjacent property owners to address 
their issues.  Indian Trail is a sought after community and we are going to grow no matter 
what.  So the traffic and schools are going to continue to have issues.  Ms. Law said she 
would prefer the option that will have nice tree-lined streets and enhanced buffering.  She 
urged Council to approve the conditional rezoning.  Ms. Law noted that there have been some 



 

12 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

issues with the vacant property; recently there was a fire that was quite scary.  She felt that 
having the land developed might minimize some of the loitering that has taken place in the 
woods.   
 

• Mr. Brian Iagremma declined to speak upon being called. 
 

• Mrs. Cathi Higgins of 3004 Clover Hill Road addressed Council stating that the developer did 
not define age-restricted and said that seniors are not restricted to the community; children 
could live in every single unit in the development.  Age-restricted is one person at least 55 
years of age has to live in at least 80% of the homes in the age-restricted part of the 
development.   She noted that there is a lot going on in the development:  traditional homes, 
age restricted homes, Indian Trail, Wesley Chapel, two HOAs and that the traditional home 
residents cannot use amenities that were shown.  Further, Mrs. Higgins noted that Wesley 
Chapel's tax rate is slightly more than 1.5 cents per $100 of assessed value while Indian 
Trail's tax rate is 18.5 cents per $100 of assessed value.  There will be two different law 
enforcement agencies providing service to the neighborhood.  Councilwoman Stanton said it 
herself earlier about another neighborhood's developer:  the developer had promised one 
thing and did not follow through.  These are developers and we can't believe that they will 
make good on everything they say.  Mrs. Higgins opined that the spreadsheet shared at the 
last community meeting showing all of these differences mentioned should be put in the 
conditions of approval that it should be presented to every perspective buyer so that they 
know what municipality they are in, what their taxes will be, if they are in a traditional 
section or an age restricted section and so on.  She said that the residents will come back and 
complain to Council that the developers promised one thing and they got another. 
 

• Mayor Alvarez read an email into the record on behalf of Mrs. Deb Perry who were unable to 
attend.  Mrs. Perry's email is attached hereto and made a part of these official minutes.  In 
part the email encouraged council to approve the rezoning with the modifications 
recommended by the Planning Board.  Additionally, she asked that the buffer exceed 25 feet 
and that lot sizes be increased. 
 

• Mr. Steve Starnes, Attorney from Monroe, spoke on behalf of his clients Jill and Mark 
Ramige of 6309 Hawfield Road.  Although his client's 4-acre property where there home is 
located in Wesley Chapel and not in Indian Trail the proposed project will directly impact 
their property.  Mr. Starnes said the proposed project will negatively affect his client's 
property.  In regards to continuity of use his client's 4-acre property has been there for years 
and to build a high-density subdivision adjacent to what was an R-40 home is not compatible.  
His clients have secured an impact study that notes a 15%-24% loss in value to their property 
if the proposed development is approved.  Last year's County tax re-evaluation assigned a 
value of just over $501,000 to his client's property.  Based upon the impact study they stand 
to lose somewhere between $75,000 to $125,000 in their property value.  Mr. Starnes again 
noted that his client's property is in Wesley Chapel but that such a loss bares consideration by 
this Council as well.  He asked if there were conditions to lessen the negative impacts to his 
client's property that Council consider applying such conditions.  Council Member Stanton 
asked if his clients were asking for anything specifically; more buffering or what?  Mr. 
Starnes said that more buffering would be better than less but his clients are in a bad 
situation.  He said that they had talked with Wesley Chapel about purchase or a (monetary) 
figure.  He also relayed that a monetary figure was given to Wesley Chapel but they've not 
heard back from the municipality.  He said they are open to a purchase or a payment for 
compensation of remedial damages.  Mr. Starnes said undoubtedly there will be a loss to his 



 

13 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

client's if the project is developed as shown by the impact study.  Councilman Wireman asked 
if the house owned by his clients has been on the market to sell for several years.  Mr. Starnes 
said he believes it was taken off the market recently; it is not currently for sale.  Additionally, 
he did not believe that the property had been on the market for several years; not that long.  
Councilman Wireman asked if the property had been on the market when the real estate 
market tanked across the county and the nation.  He asked if the impact analysis included that 
loss.  Mr. Starnes said the impact study gave two analysis based upon the current tax value 
which was assigned last year.  Mr. Starnes said that the impact analysis has been provided to 
the developer, the Wesley Chapel Town Council and now Indian Trail Town Council.  Mr. 
Starnes confirmed that his client's property is located in the Village of Wesley Chapel.  
Councilman Daniels asked what he and his clients have requested of Wesley Chapel and 
what, if anything, has Wesley Chapel agreed to do for his clients.  Mr. Starnes relayed that 
the Wesley Chapel Council asked if they had spoken with the developer; they have and there 
was no offer of compensation or offer of purchase.   
 

Mayor Alvarez closed the public comment portion of the public hearing for the conditional 
rezoning application. 

 
Council Action: 
Councilman Savoie moved to approve Annexation Ordinance #143, as presented, the motion 
carried by way of a unanimous vote of Council. 
 
Councilman Savoie moved to approve the consistency findings as read into the record by Ms. 
Coperine; the motion carried by way of a unanimous vote of Council. 
 
Councilman Savoie moved to approve CZ2016-005 to establish a Conditional Zoning Single 
Family (CZ SF-4) district for 316 single family detached units on parcels 072000590, 07120008, 
07120003, 0712005A and 0712300IJ totaling approximately 163 acres with the consistency 
findings and modifications as recommended by the Planning Board and presented by staff this 
evening (local Ordinance #0161025-248) and there was discussion. 
 
Councilwoman Stanton wanted to add modifications/conditions to the ordinance in addition to 
those recommended by the Planning Board.  First, she requested to add language that the 
buffering is required and there is to be no clear-cutting (i.e. don't go cutting down all the trees).  
Also, Councilwoman Stanton wanted the age requirements expressly included in the ordinance 
with the conditions.  She understands that it is to be 55 and older but she wants more information 
included.  Ms. Coperine noted that there is a federal regulation governing age-restricted 
communities: the Housing for Older Persons Act (HOPA).  Ms. Coperine noted two points of 
order:  #1-the motion on the table is to approve as recommended by Planning Board and if 
Council is going to add modifications that motion would need to be submitted after withdraw of 
the motion on the table or the original motion amended to include Council modifications and 
point of order #2-the developer would have to agree with the Council modifications before 
Council could approve.   
 
Councilwoman Stanton asked the Developer how the 55 and older would be regulated.  The 
developer said that part of their commitment to the community would be to make an annual report 
to Council or to Town Staff (both Indian Trail and Wesley Chapel) to show that they are meeting 
the zoning requirements imposed by each jurisdiction and the HOPA.   The report would 
basically be an audit of the neighborhood to insure the age-restricted areas are meeting the 
requirements established by HOPA.  Councilwoman Stanton asked what would happen if they 
find from their own "audit" that they are not in compliance.  The developer said that they would 



 

14 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

then be non-compliant with the zoning.  Ms. Coperine noted that the Town's recourse from non-
zoning compliance is that the Town would stop issuing permits until they rectify the compliancy 
issue.  The Town has no age-restrictions of its own so the Town would have to refer to the 
regulations of the HOPA.   The conditions included in the ordinance state that a percentage of the 
homes within the development have to be age-restricted.  Councilwoman Stanton had nothing 
further. 
 
Councilman Daniels asked Ms. Coperine if it were possible to take the best parts of option 1 and 
option 2 and combine them to make the ideal neighborhood.  Ms. Coperine asked if he meant 
from a design standpoint.  Councilman Daniels said that it was from a design standpoint as well 
as other elements such as traffic.  There may be components from option 2 that would be 
beneficial to our residents.  He said that 80% of option 1 may be beneficial and 20% of option 2 
beneficial; can they be combined into a third option?  Ms. Coperine said that right now Council is 
voting on what has been proposed; a different plan would require a separate application and the 
process would have to begin again.  Councilman Cohn said the two options have separate 
builders; Council has to choose one or the other.  The developer said when you review the 
comparison chart that they presented they believe option 1 (the conditional rezoning as it is being 
referred to this evening) is clearly the better of the two.  The only thing that may not be better is 
that the density of option 1 is higher.  The developer noted that both options utilize the same 
builder.   
 
Councilman Cohn said that he has attended many meetings and his main concern is for the 
residents.  He believes this developer to have done a wonderful job in working with our residents 
and trying to address all of their concerns.  Councilman Cohn said that he appreciates that they 
have held 20 meetings regarding this project.  Councilman Cohn said that honestly he is not in 
favor of either option; he would prefer that the land remain undeveloped.  However, one option or 
the other will be developed as option 2 was approved by a previous Council a long time ago.  So, 
now this Council has to make a decision as to which option is best.  He said that he didn't make 
up his mind until hearing from the residents this evening.  As best that he has been able to 
determine the conditional zoning will include nicer homes, an age-restricted percentage of homes, 
more buffering, there will be amenities, more open space, less students, berms will be provided 
and Downing Court will definitely be a cul de sac.  As much as Councilman Cohn hates to see 
more housing developed in Indian Trail right now because of the traffic, the conditional zoning is 
the better of these two options.  He said that he appreciates everyone that came out to speak this 
evening on this matter.   
 
Councilwoman Stanton said that she has met with Taylor Glenn residents and representatives 
from the developer and it has all been great.  She will vote yes and make sure that Downing Court 
is a cul de sac and that there will be buffers.  She too believes that the conditional zoning is the 
better of the options. 
 
Councilman Wireman appreciated the unity of Downing Court.  He feels it is a great thing that so 
many folks came out to share their thoughts.  He noted that traffic in Town is an issue; congestion 
is high.  This Council is trying to address some of the traffic issues.  He thanked the developers 
and opined that they have gone above and beyond and that shows that they truly care about the 
community and our residents.  He believed that the residents have been very professional in the 
way in which they have expressed their desires.  He too will support the conditional rezoning. 
 
Councilman Daniels said that he too would support the conditional zoning plan; between the two 
options it is clearly the better choice.  He pointed out that Councils today all across our state are 
faced with a unique problem because a lot of two-lane roads built 20 years ago should have been 



 

15 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

built as four lane roads.  Municipalities can't do much until NCDOT addresses their roads.  
Another problem is that in order to get a commercial base here that will help our community they 
want to see roof tops.  So, it is a quandary:  we need the homes to attract businesses but our roads 
cannot support the added homes.   He believes that Publix has been waiting to see what would 
happen in the area.  He too has been impressed with these developers; they've never said no rather 
they try to accommodate suggestions such as the increased buffering.  He knows that this decision 
is not going to make everyone happy but does believe this to be better for our residents in Taylor 
Glenn and Brandon Oaks. 
 
Councilman Savoie rescinded his motion to approve as presented this evening with the Planning 
Board modifications.   
 
Councilman Savoie moved to approve the conditional zoning application for the previously stated 
parcels for CZ SF-4 with the modifications recommended by the Planning Board and Council 
modification of no clear cutting of existing vegetation (the Developer agreed to the additional 
modification); the motion carried by way of a unanimous vote of Council. 
 
Mayor Alvarez called for a brief 5 minute recess.  After approximately 5 minutes, Mayor Alvarez 
called the meeting back to order. 

  
11.  OLD BUSINESS ITEMS        Action 

a) Council to consider adopting the Honorary Citizen/Business/Organization Program. (formally 
referred to as "Person of the Month"-tabled item originally brought forth by Mayor Pro Tem 
Cohn) 
Councilman Cohn moved to approve the Honorary Citizen/Business/Organization Program, as 
presented; the motion carried unanimously.   
            

12. NEW BUSINESS ITEMS        Action 
a) Council to consider approving amendments to the Rules of Procedures/Bylaws for the 

Transportation Advisory Committee and Parks, Art, Recreation and Culture (PARC) 
Committee; primary changes include reducing the membership number to five (5) for each 
committee in order be more effective at reaching a quorum. (Mr. Kaufhold) 
Councilman Daniels moved to approve the amended Bylaws for the TAC and PARC Committees, as 
presented; the motion carried unanimously. 
 

b) Council to consider allocating funds from the Governing Body's budget to provide a holiday 
luncheon for staff at a restaurant.  (Mayor Pro Tem Cohn) 
Councilman Cohn moved that Council pay for a holiday luncheon for staff at a restaurant out of the 
Governing Body Budget (no monetary limit was set); the motion carried unanimously.    
 

c) Council to consider contributing $250 to the VFW's "Blue Dinner" (Mayor Alvarez) 
Mayor Alvarez noted that the Indian Trail VFW will be hosting a "Blue Dinner" for all active, on-
duty, off-duty and retired law enforcement officers local or non-local to a dinner on October 28th at 
6pm to be recognized, fed and spoiled.  Mayor Alvarez asked that the Council consider contributing 
$250 to the VFW to go toward the cost of the meal.  He also suggested if Council is able to volunteer 
to help cook and/or serve at the event. 
 
Councilwoman Stanton moved to approve contributing $250 to the VFW for the "Blue Dinner"; the 
motion carried unanimously. 
 



 

16 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

d) Council to consider approving Budget Amendment #628 (this item was removed from the 
Consent Agenda at the request of Councilman Daniels during Agenda Additions and Deletions). 
 
Councilwoman Stanton moved to approve Budget Amendment #628 and the motion carried by a vote 
of four (4) to one (1) with Councilman Daniels voting in the opposition. 
 

13. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
a) Council to discuss the draft ordinance amendment establishing an agenda setting committee 

and, if Council is ready to move forward, schedule a public hearing for Tuesday, November 15, 
2016, 6:30 PM at the Civic Building--100Navajo Trail, Indian Trail, NC for Amendments to 
Council's Rules of Procedures contained in Section 30.02 of the Code of Ordinances. (Mr. 
Kaufhold)   
This item was removed during Agenda Additions and Deletions. 
 

b) Miracle League of Indian Trail to make a quarterly report to Council (Councilman Daniels) 
Councilman Daniels said he doesn't want to lose touch with the Miracle League in their efforts to 
construct a field and playground at Crooked Creek Park because the Town has agreed to make 
substantial contributions to bring these elements to fruition.  Since the Town's budget will be 
affected he would like to see the Miracle League representatives provide an update on their progress 
to Council quarterly. 
 
Councilman Daniels moved that the principals of the Miracle League come before Council to 
provide an update on a quarterly basis; and there was a brief discussion. 
 
Councilman Cohn said he believed there was a two-year time limit put on the Miracle League to 
raise their funds and felt it did not matter whether or not an update is provided quarterly.  Although 
he said it would be nice to receive an update it just doesn't change the fact that they have two years.  
He also stated that basically all the Town has done to this point is donate the land they will need.  
Mayor Alvarez felt a quarterly report would be a great thing so that when the public asks Council 
Members what is going on with the Miracle League they can have up to date information to relay.  
Councilman Wireman said he understood that the Miracle League was going to begin meeting with 
Parks and Recreation staff soon after Council approved them to move forward.  Additionally, he 
understood that they were going to ask the Town to contribute funds to build the bathrooms and 
possibly portions of other elements.  Mr. Kaufhold said that he and Parks & Rec staff meet monthly 
with Miracle League representatives.  In November Woolpert will be presenting an update for 
Crooked Creek Park master plan.  If Council would like, they can ask the Miracle League to attend 
too.  Councilman Wireman said since there is a team effort in this venture perhaps the Miracle 
League and the Parks & Rec Department can take turns providing the quarterly updates. 
 
Mayor Alvarez called for a vote to the motion on the floor (Councilman Daniels clarified his motion 
noting it was for the Miracle League representatives to come before Council on a quarterly basis--
not Parks & Rec staff); the motion carried unanimously. 

  
14.  UPDATES 

a) Manager’s Update:  Scott Kaufhold, Town Manager:  there was no report. 
 

15. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
• Councilman Cohn thanked everyone for coming and for a good meeting. 
• Mayor Alvarez began by thanking Councilman Daniels for keeping his word after a conversation they 

had several weeks ago about working together.  Then Mayor Alvarez said that Council Members may 
not agree with each other but they take time out of their lives and make a commitment to the 



 

17 
Town Council Regular Meeting October 25, 2016 Minutes 

community to come to these meetings and make tough decisions.  He said each member of this 
Council has a good heart and serve because they love the town.  He said that there is no 
underhandedness.  Mayor Alvarez also noted that Town staff does a wonderful job.  He said that 
sometimes there are miserable people out there who even when they get what they want they remain 
miserable.  He said that no matter what you do some people are just never satisfied and will criticize 
every action Council makes.  He said that the social media accusations are getting ridiculous.   
Council members are good, hard working people that give their time to serve our community and they 
don't deserve to be mistreated.  He said that people should stop hiding in the shadows and stop being 
so childish.  He said that it is time for the nonsense to stop.  He challenged people to get out and do 
something positive for the community.  On a personal note, Mayor Alvarez said that last week he was 
diagnosed with a rare cancer.  He is hopeful that the cancer is treatable and he will persevere.   

• Councilman Savoie asked everyone to be safe on Halloween; be mindful of the children on the roads.  
He thanked staff for their hard work and another wonderful presentation by Ms. Coperine. 

• Councilman Daniels asked everyone to vote and if they are able to vote early.  He said campaigning is 
a tough job.  He also opined that school board officials have a very difficult job; the most difficult of 
local elected officials.   

• Councilwoman Stanton noticed a new face at the staff table.  Mr. Burhans introduced the new Senior 
Planner, Meade Bradshaw.  Councilwoman Stanton welcomed Mr. Bradshaw to the team and stated 
we have a wonderful staff.  She thanked everyone for coming out and wished everyone a safe 
Halloween. 

• Councilman Wireman thanked Council for approving the Remote Participation Policy.  He thanked 
staff for all their efforts especially those that were involved with the Heritage/Hawfield Project.  He 
echoed Mayor Alvarez in the comments about angry and disgruntled people using social media to 
criticize those trying to make a difference in our community. 

 
Mayor Alvarez said that he will not be able to attend the November 15th meeting. 

 
16. CLOSED SESSION          Action 

It was noted that Councilman Wireman could not participate in the Closed Session; Councilman Wireman 
noted that he was excusing himself from the remainder of the meeting 
 
Councilwoman Stanton moved that Council enter into Closed Session pursuant to N.C.G.S 143-318.11(a)(3) 
to protect the attorney-client privilege and to consider and give instruction concerning a potential or actual 
claim, administrative procedure, or judicial action; the motion carried unanimously. 
 
Upon returning from Closed Session Councilman Savoie moved to enter Regular Session.  There was no 
action to take after the Closed Session.  
 

17. ADJOURN          Action 
Councilman Savoie moved to adjourn; the motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
(SEAL)       ___________________________ 
        Michael L. Alvarez, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
_________________________ 
Kelley Southward, Town Clerk 












































































































































































